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Further praise for Shakespeare’s Kings:




 





‘Set[s] a reader thinking not just about England’s history, and Shakespeare’s use of it, but more widely about the more subtle relationship between history and drama in any play or script supposedly based on “real events”.’ R. N. Swanson, New York Times




 





‘A brilliantly nuanced look at relations between England’s kings and Shakespeare’s plays … He uses his immense knowledge of English and European history to illuminate the historical background of the plays and to offer an intriguing look at England in the years of Shakespeare’s writing.’ Kirkus Review
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Shakespeare was the theatre’s greatest craftsman: he wasted no tortured ratiocination on his plays. Instead he filled them with the gaudy heroes that all of us see ourselves becoming on some bright morrow, and the lowly frauds and clowns we are today.
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The White Rose had long existed as a Yorkist badge; the Red Rose as the emblem of Lancaster seems to have been an invention of Henry VII. Shakespeare’s garden scene is therefore not only imaginary but also an anachronism. 

















Introduction





My own introduction to Shakespeare’s history plays took place when I was fifteen, and was taken by my parents to see the two parts of King Henry IV, in consecutive matinée and evening performances, at the New Theatre in London. We all loved Ralph Richardson’s Falstaff and Laurence Olivier’s blazing Hotspur, his hint of a stammer on every initial ‘w’ giving a memorable impact to his last line; but my own chief delight, as I remember, was the feeling – for the first time in my life – of being transported in a time capsule back into the Middle Ages. These, I kept reminding myself, were real people – people of flesh and blood, people who had really lived, who were something more than figments of an author’s imagination. But the question was already there in my mind: just how real were they? Where did history stop and drama begin? Twenty years later at the Aldwych, the miracle occurred again – with John Barton’s and Peter Hall’s superb The Wars of the Roses, spread now over two whole days. This time the feeling of transportation was even greater; this time too there was a magnificent programme, which included a full historical résumé and, wonder of wonders, an immense Plantagenet family tree. Would that I still had it today; alas, it has vanished like so many other treasures, and it is, I suppose, in an attempt to replace it as much as anything else that I have written the book that you now hold in your hands.


Perhaps, if I were to be perfectly accurate I should have called it Some of Shakespeare’s Kings, for it is nothing if not selective. It has no business with mythical monarchs like Lear, nor with pseudo-historical ones like Cymbeline. It does not even consider King John – a play which, for all its faults, is all, or almost all, the work of Shakespeare – or Henry VIII, the major part of which is probably by John Fletcher. Its subject is that unhappy line of Plantagenet rulers who inspired the nine greatest of the history plays, that tremendous series that begins with Edward III, continues through the two parts of Henry IV, Henry V and the three parts of Henry VI, and ends with Richard III. Two Kings, although part of the Plantagenet line, remain unmentioned. Edward IV, under whom the English people enjoyed a dozen of the happiest and most peaceful years they had known for a century, appears in the second and third parts of Henry VI and again in Richard III; but has no play of his own. Nor (less surprisingly, since he occupied the throne for only a few weeks) does his son, the fragile little Edward V – although, as the most pitiable monarch in English history, he plays an important part in illustrating his uncle’s villainy.


The mention of Edward III may occasion some surprise; and I readily confess that if I had written this book a year earlier than in fact I did, it would never have occurred to me to include it. I had, I think, vaguely heard of it as an apocryphal play for which one or two nineteenth-century German scholars had tentatively suggested Shakespearean authorship, but I had certainly never read it; since it did not appear in the First Folio, nor indeed in any other multi-volume edition of Shakespeare’s works, there seemed no particular reason to do so. But then, suddenly, it acquired a new respectability. In 1998 it found a place in the New Cambridge edition of the plays, and as I write these words I understand that a similar volume is now in preparation for the Arden edition. Readers must turn to these works to find the various arguments for and against its authenticity; suffice it to say that its acceptance into the two series which together represent the cutting edge of Shakespearean scholarship is good enough for me. Edward III may not be exclusively Shakespeare’s work – how many of the plays are? – but the major part of it seems to be his, and there are a number of dazzling speeches which could surely have been written by no one else:








And never shall our bonny riders rest,


Nor rusting canker have the time to eat


Their light-borne snaffles nor their nimble spurs;


Nor lay aside their jacks of gimmaled mail;


Nor hang their staves of grained Scottish ash


In peaceful wise upon their city walls;


Nor from their button’d tawny leathern belts


Dismiss their biting whinyards, till your king


Cry out: ‘Enough; spare England now for pity!’











The authentification of Edward III – a complete early version of which will be found as an appendix to this book – came to me as a godsend. For Edward was the royal patriarch, from whose loins all the subsequent rulers in our story directly or indirectly sprang. Virtually nothing in Shakespeare’s mighty epic – not the Hundred Years War nor the Wars of the Roses, not the deposition of Edward’s grandson Richard II nor the murderous ambition of his great-great-grandson Richard III – can be properly understood without going back to him. His story had somehow to be told; now, through Shakespeare, I could tell it.


But although a discussion of what we may now consider the dramatist’s thirty-ninth play1 enables us to set the scene for much of what is to follow, we are still left with an awkward gap to be filled – a gap of nearly half a century. Edward III stops effectively in September 1356, with the appearance of the Black Prince and his prisoner John II of France after the battle of Poitiers. The next play, Richard II, opens in April 1398 with the quarrel between Thomas Mowbray and Henry Bolingbroke, and covers only the last year and a half of Richard’s unhappy reign. This creates what has always seemed to me a major problem: watching the play, we never quite understand what the King has done to deserve his dethronement. He has admittedly been unjust to his cousin in confiscating his estates – though another ruler might easily have executed him – but this hardly explains how Bolingbroke was able to rally virtually the whole country to his banner and seize the crown, while scarcely a voice was raised in opposition. Why was Richard already so dangerously unpopular? Why, in his last years, could he never look to his subjects for their support? Only when we follow the progress of his reign from its outset do the answers to these questions begin, all too clearly, to emerge.


To those readers, therefore, who are looking exclusively for a historical commentary on the plays, Chapters 2 to 4 must be considered as an extended exercise in scene-setting by which the unfolding drama is – I hope – made more comprehensible than it might otherwise have been. Only with Chapter 5 do we rejoin Shakespeare and continue with the second purpose of the book. For Shakespeare’s Kings is not concerned simply to tell a story; it is also an attempt to hold up the plays, scene by scene, to the light of history, in order to establish where that light shines through unclouded, where it is shaded or refracted, and where – as only occasionally occurs – it is blocked out altogether. This is not always an easy task. Before we can accuse Shakespeare of departing from the historical truth, we must ourselves know precisely where that truth lies – and this is not easy either. Like him, we must rely very largely on the contemporary evidence, collected and collated in the early chronicles. True, in the four hundred years since the plays were written much new material has come to light whose existence he can never even have suspected; none the less these chronicles remain, for us as for him, our fundamental authorities.


The scholarly editions list some half a dozen or more sources for each play, but by far the most important are the chronicles of Jean Froissart (for Edward III and possibly Richard II), of Edward Hall and of Raphael Holinshed, whose names recur again and again in the following pages. Froissart was born at Valenciennes around 1333. In 1361 he came to England, where he remained for the next eight years, travelling extensively round the country under the protection of Queen Philippa, who was herself from Hainault. Returning to France in 1369, he set to work on the first of the four volumes of his Chroniques, a vivid and racy account of the Hundred Years War of which the English translation, made in 1523–5 by John Bourchier, Lord Berners, was certainly well known to Shakespeare. A born writer, Froissart is I fear the only one of the three chroniclers who can be read with real pleasure today.


The two Englishmen are plodders by comparison. Edward Hall, a government official under Henry VIII, began The Vnion of the Two Noble and Illustre Famelies of Lancastre and York around 1530; it was first published in 1548, the year after his death. Raphael Holinshed, whose birth date is unknown but who died around 1580, was initially given by his employer, the publisher Reginald Wolfe, the formidable task of writing a history of the world from the Flood to the time of Queen Elizabeth. Not surprisingly, he never completed it; but a small portion of the work appeared in 1577 as The firste volume of the chronicles of England, Scotlande and Irelande … conteyning the description and chronicles of England from first inhabiting unto the Conquest. In fact, it continues to the writer’s own day. It is not always easy reading, but it constitutes the first authoritative account in English of the whole of the country’s history. Shakespeare used the second, enlarged but mildly censored edition of 1587, not only for his major history plays but also for Macbeth, King Lear and Cymbeline.


The other, less important sources are listed and described at length in the Arden and New Cambridge editions. The only one, I think, worth mentioning here is the work of Shakespeare’s fellow poet Samuel Daniel, whose First Fowre Bookes of the ciuile warres between the two houses of Lancaster and Yorke were published in 1595. This was to be part of a still longer epic poem which was to carry the story down to the reign of Henry VII, but after he got as far as the wedding of Edward IV Daniel decided to write a prose history of England instead. At his best, he was a superb poet – some of his sonnets are among the loveliest in the language – and in 1604 he was appointed Licenser of the Queen’s Revels. There can be no doubt, therefore, that he and his work would have been well known to Shakespeare, and his influence can certainly be traced in the later plays of the canon: Richard II, both parts of Henry IV, and Henry V.


Although Shakespeare remains faithful to his sources for much of the time, there are – predictably enough – a good number of divergencies. From time to time he may have had to cope with an objection from the censor; a shortage of actors may sometimes have made it necessary to eliminate some minor character and attribute his actions to another. There are even moments when the root of the trouble seems to have been nothing more than plain carelessness. But in the vast majority of instances when Shakespeare departed from historic truth he did so for the best of all reasons: to make a better play. He was, after all, a playwright – first, last and always. To him the cause of the drama was of infinitely greater importance than the slavish observance of historical truth. He was young and inexperienced – the three parts of Henry VI and Richard III are among the first plays he ever wrote, while the entire canon was finished before his thirty-sixth birthday – and the challenge of moulding what is still today one of the most turbulent periods of English history into a coherent series was a formidable one indeed. No wonder he took liberties; no wonder he frequently combined two or three different events, which in fact occurred months or even years apart, into a single scene. The miracle is that he was able to stick as closely to the truth as he did, weaving together all the various strands to create a single epic masterpiece which, for all its minor inaccuracies, is almost always right when it really matters. A would-be student of the period with only the plays to help him might draw a number of false conclusions; but the overall picture received – including that of the reign of Richard III – would not, I believe, be very far wrong.


After Richard II the action, though inevitably episodic, is fairly continuous; continuous enough, indeed, for it to come as something of a surprise to learn that the nine plays were written in so haphazard an order. Dating is always a problem with Shakespeare, but it is now generally agreed that he began with the three parts of Henry VI. These seem to have been written consecutively, with Part I begun probably in 1589, Part II in 1590 and Part III completed in 1591, which also saw the writing of Richard III. Next in time came Edward III, which dates from 1592–3, after which there is a short break, during which appear The Taming of the Shrew, Two Gentlemen of Verona and King John; only in 1595 does Shakespeare return to his series with Richard II. Another break gives us Romeo and Juliet, A Midsummer Night’s Dream and The Merchant of Venice; then, in 1596 and 1597 respectively, the two parts of Henry IV. These gave rise to the third – but very different – Falstaff play, The Merry Wives of Windsor, so it was not until 1599 that the canon was completed with Henry V.


And Henry V is unlike all the others. Though by no means the greatest of Shakespeare’s histories, it is the only one which ranks as a true epic: a patriotic paean celebrating England’s only royal hero, the triumphant conclusion of a nine-part work that had taken the author the first decade of his active life. How the Queen would have loved it – knowing, as she must have known, that such a play could never have been written before her own day. When she had ascended the throne – in 1558, at the age of twenty-five – England had been a poor country, both its army and navy small and ill-equipped. Just thirty years later and thanks largely to her, it had become a great nation: one that had defeated, in the Spanish Armada, the most formidable armed expedition ever launched against its shores without losing a single vessel in the process. America, discovered less than a century before, had proved a source of riches beyond her subjects’ wildest dreams. The English felt themselves reborn, and filled with an unfamiliar confidence and pride: pride in their Queen of course, but pride also in their strength, their courage, their seamanship – and their language, which had suddenly and dramatically burst into the fullness of its flower.


From this new and unexpected standpoint, it was surely only natural that they should ask themselves just what had happened. England was, after all, an ancient nation: saving only the Papacy, the oldest political entity in Europe. Already more than 500 years had passed since the Norman Conquest, and the land had been ruled by kings for more than five centuries before that. Since Edward III’s day, however, it had been increasingly disunited. The rot had started under his grandson Richard, had increased dangerously with Richard’s dethronement, and after a brief period of remission under Henry V had finally spread out of control under Henry’s idiot son. The Wars of the Roses had continued, though intermittently, till Richard III’s death at Bosworth. And then, with Henry Tudor, had come deliverance. After a century of chaos, the Tudors had forged a modern state which, by the time William Shakespeare was born on St George’s Day 1564,2 was both peaceful and prosperous. But precisely what sort of transformation had been achieved, and how? How could a monarch transform a nation? And what was a monarch, anyway?


These were important questions, and in the sixteenth century they could be answered most effectively through the drama. Books were still expensive luxuries, largely the preserve of scholars and wealthy intellectuals; the theatre on the other hand appealed to every class of society and could be afforded by all but the very poorest – the majority of whom would have taken little interest in it anyway. And besides, what a story there was to be told: a dazzling opportunity, even if also a formidable challenge, to any ambitious young playwright. No wonder, as the sixteenth century drew to its close, that history plays became so popular. Before, let us say, 1585 there had been only one worthy of the name: King John, written not by Shakespeare but by John Bale, a Suffolk man who became Bishop of Ossory in Ireland, shortly before 1536; but that was an isolated instance. It was only in the last decade of the century – when, after the defeat of the Spanish Armada in 1588, the feeling of national exhilaration was at its height – that such plays began to appear in any quantity. They included (to name but a few) an anonymous drama based on Bale, The Troublesome Raigne of King John, which was almost certainly the inspiration for Shakespeare’s own version; The Famous Victories of Henry the Fifth, also anonymous; Sir Thomas More and The Downfall of Robert, Earle of Huntingdon (whom the principal author, Anthony Munday, chose to identify with Robin Hood); and Edward I, by George Peele. Some, obviously, are better than others; but only one, it can safely be said, can be mentioned in the same breath as Shakespeare’s, and could be – indeed has been – successfully staged in our own day: Christopher Marlowe’s dark and majestic tragedy of Edward II.


In the four centuries since it was written, the Shakespearean canon has enjoyed varying fortunes. Of Edward III we know practically nothing. Printed in 1596, its title page describes it only as having been ‘sundrie times plaied about the Citie of London’. Since then its only recorded stage productions have been one in 1986 at the Globe Playhouse in Los Angeles and one in the following year by the Welsh Theatr Clwyd, which, having opened in the little town of Mold, went on to Cambridge and then, rather surprisingly, to Taormina in Sicily. We can only hope that after 400 years of obscurity the play’s new promotion to Shakespearean rank will encourage other theatre companies to try it out, and give audiences the chance to judge it for themselves.


Richard II, too, has had a curious history. After its opening on 7 February 1601 – the eve of the Earl of Essex’s abortive rising – it was not apparently performed again until 30 September 1607, when it was put on by members of the ship’s company of HMS Dragon off Sierra Leone – a safer if less probable venue, as it turned out, than the Theatre Royal, Drury Lane, where a version by Nahum Tate was suppressed in 1681 after only two performances, despite Tate’s tactfully having changed the names of all the characters and retitled the play The Sicilian Usurper. But the deposition of a king was always a delicate subject, and Charles II can hardly be blamed, in the circumstances, for his sensitivity. Only in the nineteenth century did Richard II finally achieve the popularity it deserved, with Edmund Kean and his son Charles; Charles Kean’s production of 1857, with its tremendous set piece of Richard’s woeful entry into London in Bolingbroke’s victorious train was, we are told, never forgotten by any who saw it.


Thanks to the sheer irresistibility of Falstaff, the Henry IV plays were a success from the start. (Only the Victorians were to find him shocking, as they did almost everything else.) For the same reason, however, producers of later centuries tended to cut most of the political and historical sections and focus the entire play on the lovable old reprobate. Not until 1913 – and then not in London but in Birmingham – did Barry Jackson give audiences the opportunity to hear the full text as Shakespeare wrote it.3


Surprisingly, perhaps, in view of the opportunities it offers to a great actor, as well as for its pageantry and stage effects, Henry V was ignored between January 1605, when it was performed at court during the Christmas revels, and November 1735, when it was revived by the Irish actor Henry Giffard at his new theatre of Goodman’s Fields. The warrior king then became a favourite role for such actors as Kemble, Macready and Charles Kean; David Garrick had played only the Chorus. Less to be wondered at is the play’s increased popularity in time of war. Londoners at Christmas 1914 perhaps deserved something a little more thrilling than the fifty-six-year-old Frank Benson as Henry; even this, however, must have been preferable to the production two years later by Marie Slade and her all-woman company, with Miss Slade herself in the title role. Henry V shares with Richard III4 the distinction of having been twice made the subject of a feature film. Laurence Olivier’s of 1944 – a triumph, considering the difficulties of film production in wartime and a ridiculously small budget – understandably emphasized the patriotic aspect; Kenneth Branagh’s, made forty-five years later, went a good deal deeper, removing the glamour and reminding us instead of the mud and the blood and the misery of war.


The three parts of Henry VI have always been, as it were, the runts of the litter. We know of no early stage history of any of them, unless the ‘Harey the vj’, mentioned in the diary of the theatre manager Philip Henslowe as having been performed by Lord Strange’s Men on 3 March 1592, can be identified with Part I. In London, apart from a single performance of Part I at Drury Lane in 1738 for some ‘Ladies of Quality’ and a week’s run of Part II in 1864, none of the three was seen in its original form until 1923, when they were all staged on two consecutive nights by Robert Atkins at the Old Vic.5 Shakespeare-lovers then had to wait another twelve years, until in the summer of 1935 Gilmor Browne, Director of the Pasadena Community Playhouse, presented a festival season of all the history plays. Over the past half-century, productions of the trilogy have still been few and far between. (I have already mentioned the Barton–Hall Wars of the Roses at the Aldwych theatre, where on Saturday 11 January 1964 I saw, for the first and I fear the last time in my life, an edited version of the three parts of Henry VI as well as Richard III, all performed in a single day.)


We are left with the greatest play of them all. It seems hard nowadays to believe that Richard III was ignored through most of the seventeenth century, and that for 150 years after that it survived only in an extraordinary version by the actor-playwright Colley Cibber, which included bits from Richard II, Henry IV Part II, Henry V and Henry VI Part III, plus several lines of his own invention. For the play as Shakespeare wrote it audiences had to wait till 1845, when it was produced by Samuel Phelps; even then, however, they preferred the Cibber version – and when Phelps restaged the play in 1861, this was the one they got. Not till the end of the nineteenth century did Richard III really come into its own, when Frank Benson offered productions regularly between 1886 and 1915. There can be no real doubt that the first truly definitive Richard was that of Olivier in 1944 – a vision of evil which he preserved eleven years later in his famous film version; though even this, despite his own electrifying performance and those of Ralph Richardson as Buckingham and John Gielgud as Clarence, now seems to me pedestrian when compared with the film of 1995, shot largely in Battersea Power Station, with Sir Ian McKellen in the title role.


But now I am becoming critical, and this is not a work of criticism. Anyone wanting to know more about texts, dates and sources is recommended once again to acquire the relevant volumes of the Arden or the New Cambridge editions, the most authoritative and scholarly in existence.6 My own object has been far more modest: simply to provide lovers of Shakespeare, enthusiastic but cheerfully non-expert, with the sort of single volume that I myself should like to have had, when my eyes were first opened to the splendour of these Histories, more than half a century ago.


John Julius Norwich


Castle Combe, November 1998 




1. If we include Pericles, Prince of Tyre and Two Noble Kinsmen, which generally figure in the most recent collected editions, though neither appear in the First Folio.


2. 23 April is at least the traditional date. The parish register records his baptism on 26 April, and in those times of high infant mortality baptism normally followed only a day or two after birth. But he certainly died on St George’s Day 1616, and there is a pleasant symmetry in the idea that he both entered the world and left it on the feast of England’s patron saint.


3. I remember my father – a passionate Shakespearean – telling me that the greatest Falstaff he ever saw was the sixty-five-year-old music-hall comedian George Robey, at His Majesty’s Theatre in 1935.


4. There have actually been three films made of Richard III, if we count the two-reeler of Frank Benson’s Stratford production of 1911.


5. It must be said in fairness that Frank Benson had staged Part II at Stratford in 1899, 1901 and 1909, and the complete trilogy in a cycle of seven histories in 1906.


6. All references in this book are to the Arden, except of course those relating to Edward III, for which I have used the New Cambridge.
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Edward III and the Black Prince


[1337–1377]
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KING EDWARD. Lorraine, return this answer to thy lord:


              I mean to visit him, as he requests;


              But how? not servilely dispos’d to bend,


              But like a conqueror, to make him bow.


              His lame unpolish’d shifts are come to light,


              And truth has pull’d the vizard from his face


              That set a gloss upon his arrogance.


              Dare he command a fealty in me?


              Tell him, the crown, that he usurps, is mine,


              And where he sets his foot, he ought to kneel:


              ’Tis not a petty dukedom that I claim,


              But all the whole dominions of the realm;


              Which if with grudging he refuse to yield,


              I’ll take away those borrow’d plumes of his


              And send him naked to the wilderness.


                                                                      EDWARD III











On Monday 21 September 1327 Edward Plantagenet, the former King Edward II of England, was murdered at Berkeley Castle in Gloucestershire. He had been deposed eight months earlier, but not before he and his infamous lover Piers Gaveston, Earl of Cornwall, had reduced the prestige of the English Crown to the lowest point in all its history. Edward was weak and impressionable, totally unable to assert himself against the ambition and greed of his favourite, who shamelessly used his hold over the King to advance his own fortunes. Had he shown the faintest degree of moderation, had he treated the great barons of the land with even a suggestion of deference and respect, they would probably have accepted the situation philosophically; instead, he rode roughshod over them all, infuriating them with his greed, ostentation and arrogance. Only two months after his coronation in 1308, they made their first demand for Gaveston’s banishment; the King’s reply was to appoint him Lieutenant of Ireland, and little more than a year later the odious young man was back at his side, insufferable as ever.


The barons kept up their pressure, and in 1311 Gaveston was sentenced to permanent exile from the kingdom. Even then he and Edward fought back, and early the following year the King formally announced the Earl’s return and reinstatement; in doing so, however, he effectively signed his death warrant. On 19 May 1312 Gaveston surrendered at Scarborough, and a month later to the day he was publicly executed on Blacklow Hill, just outside Warwick. Somehow Edward managed to maintain a tenuous hold on the throne for another fifteen years; but his weakness and indecision, his now habitual drunkenness and his utter inability to control an unending stream of catamites – above all a certain Hugh le Despenser, a would-be successor to Gaveston – made his downfall inevitable. Eventually his own Queen, Isabella of France, together with her lover Roger Mortimer, took up arms against him and he was obliged to capitulate. On 20 January 1327 he was formally deposed, and eight months later, on 21 September, was put hideously to death.1


His son and successor, called Edward like his father, was a little over fourteen years old when he found himself the richest and most powerful ruler in Europe. To Scotland he could lay no claim: it had its own line of kings, the reigning monarch at that time being Robert I (the Bruce), who had trounced his father at Bannockburn thirteen years before. Both Ireland and Wales, however – although they continued to give trouble – were theoretically part of Edward’s dominions: as was Gascony, which was more important than either, comprising as it did the larger part of south-west France. True, English possessions beyond the Channel were no longer what they once had been. Two centuries before, Edward’s great-great-great-grandfather Henry II had claimed, either as fiefs by inheritance or through his marriage with Eleanor of Aquitaine, almost half the area of the country we know today, including – as well as Gascony – Normandy, Brittany, Maine, Touraine, Anjou, Poitou, Guyenne and Toulouse. Since Henry’s time, however, much of this had fallen away; now only Gascony was left.


In 1328, little more than a year after Edward was crowned, the French King Charles IV died in Paris, leaving – like his two brothers who had preceded him on the throne – no male issue; and suddenly not only the lost provinces but the whole of France seemed to Edward to be just possibly within his reach. He now claimed simply that his own mother, Isabella, the late King’s sister, was the rightful heir; the French objected that according to the old Salic Law the crown could not pass to a woman, and that it should therefore go to the son of Charles’s uncle, Philip of Valois; whereupon Edward pointed out that even if the Salic Law were to be upheld he himself, as the late King’s nephew, was a closer relation than Philip, who was merely a cousin.


It is interesting to speculate how European history would have been changed had Edward’s view prevailed, with England and France united under a single crown. But to the French such an outcome was clearly out of the question. Philip, after all, was already Regent; Edward, now sixteen, lived across the sea, was the senior representative of that same house of Plantagenet that in Gascony had caused nothing but trouble, and was in any case still a minor. Philip duly received his coronation as Philip VI at Rheims in May 1328, and Edward was obliged, albeit reluctantly, to recognize him as King. But this presented another problem – one of the oldest and most intractable of all those inherent in the feudal system, one which had been poisoning Anglo-French relations ever since the days of William the Conqueror: how could a sovereign of one state hold land as the vassal of a sovereign of another? The duties imposed by such vassalage were as difficult for one of them to insist upon as they were distasteful to the other to perform. Edward’s title to his French lands was not in dispute; but how were those lands held – in full sovereignty or as fiefs?


The French had no doubts on the matter: so far as they were concerned the King of France retained his suzerainty under the formula superioritas et resortum, which allowed the people of Gascony the ultimate right of appeal to Paris. The English, however, refused to accept any such limitation of their authority. Lawyers on both sides of the Channel had been arguing for a century and more, but had succeeded only in smothering the issue under layer after layer of obfuscation, until the only point which was perfectly clear (though neither side could admit it) was that the problem was insoluble. In 1329 Edward did in fact travel to Amiens, where he did simple homage to Philip; but eight years later, on 24 May 1337, the French King declared Gascony confiscate to himself ‘on account of the many excesses, rebellions and acts of disobedience committed against us and our royal majesty by the King of England, Duke of Aquitaine’. By now tension had been further increased by Edward’s invasion of France’s old ally, Scotland; and Philip’s unilateral action came as the last straw. On 7 October Edward challenged his claim not only to Gascony but to France as well, declaring himself ‘King of France and England’. The Hundred Years War had begun.
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It is with this declaration that Shakespeare’s Edward III2 effectively opens. There is a brief preliminary exchange during which, for the sake of the audience, Edward’s claim to the French throne is explained – and its justice confirmed – by Robert, Count of Artois;3 there then enters the French Ambassador, the Duke of Lorraine, who peremptorily demands that Edward appear within forty days before the King of France to do homage for his dukedom of Guyenne – a summons which is answered in the words that form the epigraph to this chapter. We are thus given a rousing and intensely dramatic opening scene – although two small points must be made in the interests of historical accuracy. First, Edward had actually performed the required homage eight years before (though not in satisfactory form, since he had refused to appear before the French King bare-headed and with ungirt sword); second, despite the fact that both Artois and Lorraine refer to their master as John of Valois, the King of France in 1337 was in fact Philip VI; John II succeeded him only in 1350.4 Neither of these points, however, need concern us overmuch; suffice it to say that the Duke of Lorraine is sent packing and his place at centre-stage taken over by the captain of the castle of Roxborough (now Roxburgh), Sir William Montague.5


With Montague comes the introduction of two more strands of the story: affairs in Scotland and the King’s love for the Countess of Salisbury. Montague reports that the ‘league’ between the English and the Scots has been ‘cracked and dissevered’:








Berwick is won; Newcastle spoil’d and lost;


And now the tyrant hath begirt with siege


The castle of Roxborough, where enclos’d


The Countess Salisbury is like to perish.











Edward had in fact no league with Scotland. On the contrary, fighting had continued sporadically along the border from soon after Bannockburn until in 1328, with the marriage of Bruce’s four-year-old son David – soon to be King David II of Scotland – to Edward’s sister Joanna, a truce had been declared – only to be broken by the Scots when they captured Berwick in 1332. Newcastle, on the other hand, did not fall to them until 1341 – the date when, according to Froissart,6 Sir William Montague appealed to the King for help. But to attach any serious importance to these inaccuracies is to miss the point. The dramatist is not interested in historical exactitude; he is concerned only to set the general scene of almost continuous warfare along the Scottish border, and of the consequent danger to Edward’s subjects throughout the north, rich and poor alike.


Edward thus finds that he has two enemies to fight; of the two, however, he has no doubt that the King of France is by far the more formidable. Against him he orders his eldest son, Edward – whom he calls ‘Ned’7 – to raise a mighty army from every shire in the land, simultaneously arranging for appeals to be made to his father-in-law the Count of Hainault and even to the Holy Roman Emperor, Lewis IV. While such preparations are in train, ‘with these forces that I have at hand’, he proposes to march against King David, liberating Lady Salisbury from the castle in which she is besieged–and on the battlements of which we find her at the opening of scene ii.


The identity of this lady is not so much a mystery as the result of a chaotic confusion on the part of Froissart and other less trustworthy sources.8 She is probably based on Alice Montague, whose husband Edward was governor of the Earl of Salisbury’s castle of Wark and whom the King is known to have tried, unsuccessfully, to seduce; but once again it hardly matters. Her eavesdropping on King David and the Duke of Lorraine, as they walk the ramparts below discussing the devastation that they will wreak on England, enables her to taunt them when they flee at the news of Edward’s advance; her real purpose, however, is to provide the play with a love interest and to show us the King as a lover as well as a man of action. This theme is continued throughout the long first scene of Act II. It includes much fine poetry and introduces an interesting moral dilemma when the Countess’s father, the Earl of Warwick – who is no more a historical character than she is herself – is commanded by the King to persuade his daughter to yield:








I’ll say, she must forget her husband Salisbury,


If she remember to embrace the king;


I’ll say, an oath can easily be broken,


But not so easily pardoned, being broken;


I’ll say, it is true charity to love,


But not true love to be so charitable;


I’ll say, his greatness may bear out the shame,


But not his kingdom can buy out the sin;


I’ll say, it is my duty to persuade,


But not her honesty to give consent.











But these two scenes – together with that which follows, in which the Countess finally brings Edward to his senses by agreeing to surrender to him only if he first kills his wife and her husband – are in a sense little more than an extended parenthesis; not until the last dozen lines of Act II do we return to the main business of the play – the war with France.
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Although at an early stage Edward had established himself with his family at Antwerp as a forward base, he did not invade French territory until the autumn of 1339. Invading armies seldom comport themselves well towards local populations, but the English army seems to have behaved worse than most. The countryside was ravaged, villages laid waste. At Origny the local convent was burnt to the ground, the nuns subjected to wholesale rape. Such conduct may have been deliberately intended to provoke the King of France to battle; if so, it very nearly succeeded. When the French army finally caught up with the English near Saint-Quentin, Philip proposed a formal encounter in single combat – the old chivalric tradition was dying hard – at a site to be chosen by Edward; he stipulated only that the field should have neither trees, ditches nor marsh. Edward asked nothing better. He was twenty-five years old, at the peak of his health and vigour, with a passion for war in all its aspects. He was a regular participant at tournaments; and what, after all, was his cousin proposing but a glorified joust? No sooner had the challenge been accepted, however, than Philip had second thoughts. Froissart suggests that he listened to the advice of his uncle Robert of Anjou, King of Naples and a noted astrologer; more probably his scouts simply reported that the English King was a good deal stronger, and the English host far better organized, than he had expected. At all events he returned to Paris. The English, grumbling loudly about French cowardice, retired to Brussels for the winter.


Edward’s temper was considerably improved when, in January 1340, the people of Flanders – natural allies of England because of the mutually profitable wool trade – recognized his claim to the French crown. He immediately quartered the arms of France with his own, ordered a new seal complete with fleurs-de-lys and adopted a surcoat of scarlet and blue, embroidered with the leopards and lilies that remain to this day on the royal escutcheon. But the Flemings, happy as they were to be an English rather than a French dependency, were merchants first and foremost, with a clear understanding of the value of money. When the King returned to England soon afterwards to hasten the delivery of the provisions and supplies he needed, they politely insisted that his wife and children should be left behind as security for the payment of his debts, Queen Philippa’s own crown being put in pawn to the merchants of Cologne.


Meanwhile the French were giving increasing trouble in the Channel. Already in 1338 their privateers had raided Portsmouth and Southampton; that October, Edward had ordered a line of stakes to be driven across the Thames to prevent similar assaults on London. The following year Dover and Folkestone had been attacked. Finally, by midsummer 1340, the King was ready to sail from the Thames estuary with the navy that he had long been preparing: some 200 vessels, carrying perhaps 5,000 archers and men-at-arms, together with horses and stores. Also accompanying him were what a contemporary described as ‘a large number of English ladies, countesses, baronesses, knights’ ladies and wives of London burgesses, who were on their way to visit the Queen of England at Ghent’. But just before Edward gave the order to weigh anchor there came ominous news: scouts who had been patrolling the Channel reported that a French fleet at least twice the size of his own was awaiting him at the mouth of the river Zwin near the little town of Sluys – in those days the port of nearby Bruges. His Chancellor, the Archbishop of Canterbury John Stratford, urged him even at this late stage to cancel the expedition: in such conditions, he argued, to continue would be suicide. But the King remained firm – whereupon Stratford resigned his seal of office on the spot, handing it over to his brother Robert, Bishop of Chichester – and, shortly after midnight on 22 June, gave the order to sail.


On the afternoon of the day following, as his fleet approached the Flemish coast, Edward saw for himself the strength of the huge armada that Philip had drawn up against him: 400 sail or more – ‘so many’, writes Froissart, ‘that their masts resembled a forest’. Nineteen of them were larger than any that the English had ever seen. Characteristically, however, the King decided to attack at once. Pausing only to ensure the protection of the ladies, he spent what remained of the day deploying his ships, one carrying men-at-arms between every two with archers. Then, early in the morning of Midsummer Day,9 he led his fleet straight into the harbour mouth.


What followed was a massacre. The French fought valiantly, but were so tightly crowded together in the narrow inlet that they could barely move. Edward bore down upon them with the wind behind him, his archers – operating from platforms or ‘castles’ mounted high above the decks – loosing volleys of arrows high into the air to rain down a moment later over the enemy ships, while the sharp English prows shattered the motionless French hulls like matchwood. Only when sufficient damage had been done did the longbowmen pause in their work, to allow the men-at-arms to grapple, board and fight to the death. For nine hours the battle continued; when it was finished, 230 French ships, including the flagship, had been captured and the rest destroyed, the two admirals dead among the wreckage. The fish in the harbour drank so much French blood, it was said afterwards, that had God given them the power of speech they would have spoken in French.
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The last three acts of Edward III are devoted to the King’s victories in France, and are based principally on the accounts by Froissart and Holinshed of the battles of Sluys and Crécy, respectively in 1340 and 1346; of the siege and conquest of Calais in 1346–7; and of the battle of Poitiers in 1356. We would expect Act III to begin with Sluys, and so in a way it does; but although its first scene is clearly set somewhere on the Flemish coast within sight and earshot of the battle, lines 33–61 are more suggestive of the preparations for Crécy six years later. The entire action is represented from the French point of view – presumably in order to introduce us to Edward’s chief antagonists, now appearing for the first time. They are identified in the stage directions as ‘King John of France, his two sons Charles [Duke] of Normandy and Philip’. We have already noted the dramatist’s refusal to recognize King Philip VI, whom he confuses with John II, his son and successor.10 This now leads him into still greater confusion. The Duke of Normandy in 1340 was not Charles but that same John, the future King: while the ‘Philip’ cannot possibly be John’s son – the future Philip the Bold, Duke of Burgundy, who was born only in 1341 or 1342 – and can be identified only with his brother, Philip Duke of Orleans.


In his reference to ‘Our navy of a thousand sail’, the King appears somewhat prone to exaggeration: Holinshed puts the number at 400, while Froissart speaks of ‘mo than sixscore great vessels, besyde other’. But we are given no further information about the French fleet: the conversation shifts to the character of the English, ‘Bloodthirsty and seditious Catilines’, and their allies, the ‘frothy Dutchmen, puff’d with double beer’ – no match, clearly, for the allies of the French: ‘The stern Polonian, and the warlike Dane,/The King of Bohemia, and of Sicily’. Obediently on cue, John of Luxemburg, King of Bohemia, enters with a Polish captain; they are, however, jumping the gun. As we shall shortly see, the blind King John was to fight – and die – at Crécy, in which both Poles and Danes fought as mercenaries; but that was still six years in the future.11


Suddenly, the mood changes. A ‘mariner’ arrives to describe the splendour of the English fleet:








Majestical the order of their course,


Figuring the horned circle of the moon:


And on the top-gallant of the admiral,


And likewise all the handmaids of his train,


The arms of England and of France unite


Are quarter’d equally by herald’s art.











A few moments later, the battle has begun. The King and Philip hear it in the distance, and the mariner returns with a description that borders on the macabre:











Purple the sea; whose channel fill’d as fast


With streaming gore that from the maimèd fell


As did her gushing moisture break into


The crannied cleftures of the through-shot planks.


Here flew a head, dissever’d from the trunk;


There mangled arms and legs were toss’d aloft,


As when a whirlwind takes the summer dust


And scatters it in middle of the air.











Five years at the most separate the writing of Edward III and the defeat of the Spanish Armada; and it is hardly surprising that echoes of the recent victory can be heard in the mariner’s two speeches. In the first – an unmistakable warning of what is to come – he describes ‘The proud Armado of King Edward’s ships’; the reference to ‘the horned circle of the moon’ would also have struck a chord with contemporary audiences, the Armada having sailed in crescent-shaped formation up the Channel before being engaged by the English fleet.12 In the second speech, immediately after the battle, he gives the King the grim news in the clearest possible terms:








Much did the Nonpareille, that brave ship:


So did the Black-snake of Bullen [Boulogne], than which


A bonnier vessel never yet spread sail:


But all in vain; both sun, the wind and tide


Revolted all unto our foemen’s side,


That we perforce were fain to give them way,


And they are landed: thus my tale is done;


We have untimely lost, and they have won.











The battle of Sluys – the first great naval victory in English history – gave Edward command of the Channel and ensured a moderately satisfactory bridgehead for his expeditionary armies for several years to come. The French army, however – in marked contrast to its navy – remained unscathed, still refusing to join battle; the Flemish allies, bored with the war, were growing ever more obstreperous; and when, at the approach of autumn, the elderly Countess of Hainault – Edward’s mother-in-law and Philip’s sister – emerged from the convent to which she had retired and proposed a truce, the two monarchs agreed. It was signed on 25 September 1340 at Espléchin near Tournai, extending until midsummer of the following year. Thus, for the King of England, the first phase of the war had been only moderately successful. He had, it was true, destroyed the French fleet and acquired new allies in Flanders. On the other hand he suffered from the inherent disadvantage of all invaders of foreign territory: dangerously extended lines of communication and supply, not only inconvenient in themselves but a constant brake on progress and all too easily cut by an enemy fighting on home ground. Quick and decisive victories like that of Sluys were what he needed; he could not afford a war of slow attrition or of protracted sieges. Thus he had proved powerless against Philip’s defensive strategy, and his ultimate victory over the French King seemed as far away as ever it had been.


The five years after the treaty of Espléchin saw a good deal of inconclusive fighting in Brittany and Gascony, where two of the ablest of the younger English commanders, Sir Walter Manny and the King’s cousin, Henry Earl of Derby, recovered a good many important towns and castles before losing them again to Philip’s eldest son, John Duke of Normandy. In the early summer of 1346, however, Edward prepared an army of some 4,000 men-at-arms and 10,000 archers, with a navy of about 700 sail which he assembled at Portsmouth. The destination of this expeditionary force – by far the greatest ever raised in England – was deliberately not revealed, obliging the French to keep their own ships widely dispersed; even the English captains were given their orders under seal, to be opened only after they had left harbour. But there seems little reason to doubt Froissart when he tells us that it was intended for Gascony, where Derby was putting up a stout resistance at Aiguillon.13 At any rate the fleet set sail and headed westward down the Channel; but after three days the wind changed and drove the ships north against the Cornish coast. There they lay nearly a week at anchor, and it seems to have been only then that Sir Godfrey d’Harcourt, a French knight banished from his native land who had spent the past two years at the English court, persuaded the King to change his entire plan. ‘Sir’, he is quoted as saying,




the country of Normandy is one of the richest in the world. I promise you on my life that, if you land there, none shall resist you; for its people have no experience of arms and the greatest of its knights are all at Aiguillon with the Duke. Thus will you find great towns and fortresses completely undefended, wherein your men shall have such gain as to make them rich for twenty years to come. Moreover your fleet will be able to follow you almost as far as Caen. If you therefore see fit to heed my advice, you and we shall all profit thereby.





Sir Godfrey spoke the truth, and Edward knew it. He saw too that such a landing in Normandy might well divert French troops from Gascony, thereby helping the hard-pressed Derby almost as much as if he had sailed directly to his relief. The principal danger would be that of interception by King Philip – whose army was far larger than his own – before he could link up with his Flemish allies; but his past experience of Philip’s cautiousness suggested that the risk was well worth taking, and he gave the order to turn about. The fleet sailed back the way it had come, and landed at the little port of St Vaast-la-Hougue, on the eastern side of the Cotentin peninsula,14 on 12 July.


For reasons not entirely clear,15 the army encamped for thirty-six hours on the beach before setting off to the north-east, burning and plundering as it advanced. The unwalled towns of Barfleur and Carentan and the city of Caen were taken and sacked, and Rouen would have suffered the same fate – leaving the English in uncontested control of the lower Seine – had not the French army arrived just in time to save it. Edward had neither the time nor the money for a long siege; instead he wheeled to his right – allowing Philip to think he might be making for Gascony after all – and crossed the Seine at Poissy, birthplace of Saint Louis and site of one of the French King’s favourite country palaces, in which Edward celebrated the Feast of the Assumption, making free of his cousin’s best wines. Then he reverted to his original course towards Picardy and the Low Countries. He had a stroke of luck when he reached the Somme: the bridges were down, but it was low tide and his army was able to cross at a shallow ford just before the waters rose to block off the pursuing French. This twelve-hour respite was a godsend, giving him time to find a suitable defensive position and to rest his men before the confrontation he had long been awaiting. He found it at Crécy, some twelve miles north of Abbeville on the little river Maye, with a valley – known as the Vallée des Clères – in front of him and thick woods behind. He himself took command of the centre, with the Earl of Northampton commanding his left wing and, on his right, in the care of Sir Godfrey d’Harcourt and Sir John Chandos, the sixteen-year-old Prince of Wales.16


The French cavalry numbering some 8,000, supplemented by 4,000 hired Genoese crossbowmen and other mercenaries from Poland and Denmark, arrived late in the afternoon of Saturday 26 August, following a heavy shower of rain. The infantry was still some way behind. For that reason alone an immediate engagement was not to be thought of, and after a brief personal reconnaissance King Philip ordered the attack deferred until the following day; but the knights in his vanguard ignored him, continuing to press forward up the hill until the English archers, no longer able to resist the temptation, loosed their first volley. By then it was too late to retire; the whole army was committed and the battle had begun. The Genoese advanced with their crossbows, the strings of which were soaking wet after the rain; but the evening sun was full in their eyes, and the English longbowmen – who had protected their own bowstrings by removing them and putting them inside their helmets – could shoot six arrows in the time it took the Italians to deliver a single bolt. The latter turned tail and fled – straight into the charging French cavalry, who mowed them down by the hundred before themselves going down under the relentless hail from the archers. Pressed hard from behind, the French attacked again and again, but – at least where the English centre and left flank were concerned – with no greater success.


The principal threat was to the right wing commanded by the young Prince of Wales, where a number of French knights, together with a group of Germans and Savoyards, had braved the arrows and were now fighting hand-to-hand with the English men-at-arms. At one point, Froissart tells us, the Prince was down on his knees, protected only by his standard-bearer Richard de Beaumont, who sheltered him with the banner of Wales until he once again struggled to his feet; and the Earls of Warwick and Oxford who were fighting beside him dispatched one of their knights, Sir Thomas of Norwich, to the King with an urgent appeal for help. Edward, informed of the situation, asked only whether his son was dead or wounded. On hearing that he was so far unharmed, though fighting desperately for his life, he sent Sir Thomas back to his superiors. ‘Give them my command,’ he said, ‘to let the boy win his spurs; for if God has so ordained it I wish the day to be his, and the honour to go to him and to those in whose charge I have placed him.’


The Prince and his companions finally routed their assailants, who were forced to retire. Meanwhile, in the gathering twilight, King Philip lost all control of the battle and his army lapsed into confusion. The fighting continued until long after dark; by morning, more than a third of the French army lay dead on the field. Among them – together with the King’s brother the Duke of Alençon, his nephew Guy of Blois, the Duke of Lorraine and the Count of Flanders, nine French counts and over fifteen hundred knights – was the blind John of Luxemburg, King of Bohemia, who had insisted on being led into the fray to strike at least one blow with his sword. His entourage, in order not to lose him, had tied his horse’s bridle to their own; they had then ‘advanced so far forward that they all remained on the field, not one of them escaping alive. They were found the next day, the knights lying round their leader, with their horses still fastened together.’ The King’s body was washed in warm water and wrapped in a clean linen shroud, and a solemn mass was celebrated by the Bishop of Durham for the repose of his soul; the Prince of Wales, however, appropriated his badge of the three ostrich feathers and the motto Ich Dien– ‘I Serve’ – which his distant successor still bears to this day.


Dawn brought a heavy fog – not unusual in Picardy in late August – and the Earls of Arundel, Northampton and Suffolk set off with a considerable force of mounted knights to look for the King and for any other important Frenchmen who might be trying to escape. They did not find Philip, but came instead upon the bulk of the French infantry, together with a number of high church dignitaries including the Archbishop of Rouen and the Grand Prior of the Order of St John of Jerusalem. None of these had heard anything of the battle, and at first assumed that they had come upon a group of their own compatriots. They were soon disillusioned; the English were in no mood for mercy. All the churchmen were killed in cold blood, as were the majority of the infantry – four times as many, according to one report, as lost their lives in the main encounter.


King Edward – again according to Froissart – had remained at the windmill that he had chosen for his command post and had not once donned his helmet throughout the battle. Yet it was to him, rather than to his son, that the victory truly belonged. His alone was the strategy that had made it possible, while his coolness under fire and his shrewd tactical sense stood out in marked contrast to the impetuousness and lack of control shown by his adversary.17 It was clear, too, that he better than anyone else understood the way in which warfare was evolving. The development of the longbow, capable in skilled hands of penetrating chain mail – or even a steel breastplate – from a range of a hundred yards or more, meant that henceforth any cavalry charge could be stopped in its tracks. As for artillery, such primitive devices as existed were used exclusively for siege warfare; it would be well over a century before cannon and musketry proved their supremacy over the drawn bowstring, and the balance swung once again in favour of the aggressor rather than the defence.


And what, finally, of King Philip? Twice unhorsed and twice wounded, he had seen his standard-bearer killed in front of him and had fought as valiantly as any of his men. With the help of John, Count of Hainault, he managed to escape from the battlefield and rode under cover of darkness to the castle of Labroye, whose seneschal, roused in the small hours, demanded to know who it was who so insistently sought admittance. ‘Open quickly,’ answered Philip, ‘for I am the fortune of France.’ He was indeed. As his son was to prove ten years later at Poitiers, France could ill afford the cost of a captured king.




*





From Sluys the play wings us forward six years to the preliminaries to the battle of Crécy. A short introductory scene (III.ii), based on a passage in Froissart, shows the local population taking flight at the coming of the English host, after which (III,iii) Edward enters, followed shortly afterwards by his son the Black Prince. The Prince proudly lists to his father the cities he has taken since his arrival in France – in fact, father and son had made the conquests together – and tells him that the French army, ‘With full a hundred thousand fighting men’, is already being drawn up on the field. No sooner have the words left his lips than ‘King John’18 himself appears with his train. This is another imaginary scene, in which the two kings hurl insults at each other: Edward gives ‘Jonn’ one last opportunity to give up the French throne








Before the sickle’s thrust into the corn


Or that enkindled fury turn to flame?











but his offer is rejected with contempt:








Edward, I know what right thou hast in France,


And ere I basely will resign my crown


This champion field shall be a pool of blood


And all our prospect as a slaughter-house.











Historically there was no meeting of the two kings before the battle; nor do the chroniclers report any rousing speeches made to their respective armies of the kind made by the French King in the play. Imagined too is the ceremonial arming of the Black Prince by Edward and his nobles. Dramatically, on the other hand, the two incidents are more than justified; the arming of the Prince in particular is a brilliant touch. Battles, by their very nature, cannot be satisfactorily presented on a stage (though Shakespeare was to make the attempt on several occasions in the future). It is all the more important for the playwright to provide an adequate build-up, to leave his audience in no doubt as to the importance of the coming confrontation. Here we are given first a war of words, and then a series of short ceremonies which reflect all the panoply and pageantry of battle – reminding us, too, of the military qualities of the Black Prince, whose youthful vigour is such that his father names the hardened old warrior Lord Audley to fight at his side.19


The encounter itself is encapsulated in two brief incidents, both in III,iii and both derived from Froissart through Holinshed. The first, only a dozen lines long, shows us the breathless ‘King John’ with the Duke of Lorraine (who, historically, lost his life on the field, though there is no suggestion of this in the play) watching the flight of the French army – for which they rightly blame the Genoese mercenaries although, if Holinshed is to be believed, the latter certainly had a lot to bear:




The third time againe the Genowaies leapt, and yelled, and went foorth till they came within shot, and fiercelie therwith discharged their crossbowes. Then the English archers stept foorth one pase, and let flie their arrowes so wholie and so thicke togither, that it seemed to snowe. When the Genowaies felt the arrowes persing their heads, armes and breasts, manie of them cast downe their crossbowes, and cut the strings, and returned discomfited …


Then ye might haue seene the men of armes haue dasht in amongst them, and killed a great number of them, and euer the Englishmen shot where they saw the thickest prease: the sharpe arrowes ran into the men of armes, and into their horsses, and manie fell horsse and man amongst the Genowaies, and still the Englishmen shot … The throng was such that one ouerthrew another; & also among the Englishmen, there were certeine of the footmen with great kniues, that went in among the men of armes, and killed manie of them as they laie on the ground, both earles, barons, knights, and esquires.





Then, represented at considerably greater length, comes the famous occasion in which King Edward refuses to send help to his beleaguered son, despite an appeal from Audley himself:








Audley, content: I will not have a man,


On pain of death, sent forth to succour him:


This is the day ordain’d by destiny


To season his courage with those grievous thoughts,


That, if he break out, Nestor’s years on earth,


Will make him savour still of this exploit.











The Prince, as we know, never lived Nestor’s ‘three generations of men’; nor indeed did he fight in the same part of the battle as the old King of Bohemia, whose body he now brings triumphantly to his father as ‘this firstfruit of my sword,/Cropp’d and cut down even at the gate of death’. There is no doubt, however, that he fought magnificently, amply deserving the knighthood that, in the play, his father now bestows upon him. He had in fact been knighted the previous July, shortly after the landing in Normandy; but once again Shakespeare is thinking dramatically rather than historically, and the brief ceremony adds immeasurably to the battle’s aftermath.20




*





As soon as he had buried his dead, Edward advanced to Calais. He had no legal claim to the city: it had never been English. Even the French had long been put off by its marshy approaches and general difficulty of access; it was only in the past century or so that the Counts of Boulogne had recognized its strategic importance and developed it into the prosperous and strongly fortified city that it had now become. But to the King of England, too, its advantages were clear. Standing at the point where the Channel was at its narrowest, only twenty-two miles from the English coast, Calais promised him not only a far more convenient bridgehead than the ports of Flanders, being a good deal nearer to Gascony, but the all-important control of the eastern approach to the straits. It would not, however, be easy in the taking. Behind its formidable walls, protected by a double ditch fed by the sea itself, there waited a strong and determined garrison under an outstandingly able commander (even though he was a martyr to gout) named Jean de Vienne. A direct assault was obviously out of the question; the only hope lay in a blockade. And so, early in September, the English encamped on the flat and windy marshes and built what was in effect a small wooden village, named by Edward Villeneuve-le-Hardi. (French was still the language of the English court.) The siege threatened to be long, so it was only sensible to make themselves as comfortable as possible.


Winter came, and spring, and summer – and still Calais held out. The blockade proved in the main successful; but the English fleet, constantly patrolling the roadstead, suffered much harassment from Norman privateers and lost no fewer than fifteen vessels during the siege. Already in October 1346 news had reached the camp that the Scots, traditional allies of France, had attempted a diversion by crossing the Tweed and laying waste the County Palatine of Durham. Edward, however, had made no move against them. He had foreseen the danger and when raising troops for his new offensive had deliberately refrained from calling out the northern border levies, whom he had left under the command of the Nevills, the Percys, the Archbishop of York William Zouche and other local magnates, so that they should be ready to deal with just such an emergency. Soon afterwards came a report that these levies had fallen on the Scots at Neville’s Cross just outside Durham, cut them to pieces and taken prisoner their King, David II.21 More good news followed: Charles of Blois, the French claimant to the duchy of Brittany, had been captured by Sir Thomas Dagworth at La Roche-Darrien, while in Gascony the French army had given up the siege of Aiguillon and retired across the Loire. Edward, however, had refused to be deflected from Calais. The city was now completely blockaded by land and sea; its only hope, as he well knew, lay in the possibility of a relief expedition – of which, after eleven months, there was still no sign.


Finally, at the end of July 1347, King Philip appeared with his army on the cliff at Sangatte, a mile or two to the west of Calais. He was horrified by what he saw. Villeneuve-le-Hardi had become a veritable town. A network of well laid-out streets surrounded a market place, where regular markets were held on Wednesdays and Saturdays. There were, writes Froissart, ‘haberdashers’ and butchers’ shops, stalls selling cloth and bread and other necessities, so that almost anything could be bought there. All these things were brought over daily by sea from England, and goods and foodstuffs were also supplied from Flanders.’ This prosperous little community could of course have been easily destroyed, had Philip been able to reach it; but Edward, forewarned, had made the necessary dispensations. Loading his ships with archers, catapults and bombards, he had drawn them up in the shallow water along the whole length of coast between Sangatte and Calais, making any advance along the shore impossible. The only other route, through the marshy, swampy ground behind the dunes, depended on a bridge at Nieulay where he had posted his cousin the Earl of Derby (recently arrived from Gascony) with the remaining archers and men-at-arms. The most cursory reconnaissance – effected with the full cooperation of the English – was enough to convince the King of France that the situation was hopeless. He made the usual formal request for a pitched battle at some mutually acceptable spot, but cannot have been surprised when Edward refused it. The next morning he and his army were gone.


The departure of his sovereign told Jean de Vienne all he needed to know. The citizens of Calais were by now near starvation; if Froissart is to be believed, the commander had already expelled ‘all poore and meane peple’ – those who could not contribute to the defence of the town and simply constituted extra mouths to feed – to the number of 1,700. Further resistance was pointless. He now signalled his readiness to surrender, provided only that the King would promise safe conduct for all the citizens. Edward first refused point-blank: Calais had cost him vast quantities of money and the lives of countless soldiers and sailors, together with almost a year of his own. But when his two envoys, Lord Basset and Sir Walter Manny, returned to report that in that event the city would continue to resist, he relented. Manny – according once again to Froissart – was sent back to Jean de Vienne with new conditions: six of the principal citizens must present themselves before the King, barefoot and bare-headed, with halters round their necks and the keys of the city and of the castle in their hands. With them he would do as he pleased; the rest of the population would be spared.


The English terms were proclaimed in the market place, and immediately the richest of all the burghers, Master Eustache de Saint-Pierre, stepped forward. Before long five others had joined him. There and then the six stripped to their shirts and breeches, donned the halters, took the keys and made their way to the gates, led by Jean de Vienne himself mounted on a pony, his sword reversed in token of submission. On their arrival before the King they knelt before him, presented him with the keys and begged for mercy. Edward refused to listen, and ordered their immediate execution; Sir Walter pleaded with him in vain. Only when Queen Philippa, then heavily pregnant, threw herself on her knees before her husband and begged him to spare them did he finally relent.




The Queen thanked him from the bottom of her heart, then rose to her feet and told the six burghers to rise also. She had the halters taken from their necks and led them into her apartment. They were given new clothes and an ample dinner. Then each was presented with six nobles and they were escorted safely through the English army and went to live in various towns in Picardy.22





On Saturday 4 August 1347 King Edward III entered Calais in triumph and gave orders that the entire city be evacuated. The miserable citizens were permitted to take nothing with them: houses and estates, furniture and possessions, all were left behind for the use of the English colonists whom the King brought in to take their places. The descendants of those colonists were to remain there for over two centuries until, on 7 January 1558, Calais was recaptured at last.
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For nine years after the fall of Calais, the war was largely forgotten. The Black Death struck France in January 1348, and England the following July; within ten years it had killed an estimated one-third of the population living between India and Iceland. Of those who survived, the majority had other, more pressing anxieties. There were a few minor skirmishes in Gascony and Brittany, and towards the end of 1355 Edward even landed with another army at Calais; but he seems to have thought better of the operation, since he and his men were back in England little more than a month later. Meanwhile successive popes did their best to bring about a lasting peace; if they failed, it was because neither of the protagonists really wanted it. Edward would be satisfied with nothing less than the throne of France; Philip’s son John II, who had succeeded his father in 1350, was an incorrigible and impetuous romantic whose dreams of chivalric derring-do were to betray him again and again. For the time being, both monarchs had other business on their minds; when the moment came, however, both would show themselves only too keen to continue the struggle.


In the same year as Edward’s abortive Calais expedition the Black Prince, now twenty-five and his father’s lieutenant in Gascony, took an army to south-west France, failing to capture Narbonne and Carcassonne but causing appalling devastation and destruction in the surrounding countryside. In 1356 he was more ambitious still, launching raids up and down the Loire to the point where King John determined to teach him a lesson, summoning all the noblemen and knights of the realm to assemble at Chartres in the first week of September with their retinues. The response was almost universal; by the time the army was ready it included the King’s four sons, none of them yet out of their teens; the Constable of France, Gauthier de Brienne; two marshals; twenty-six dukes and counts; 334 bannerets; and lesser lords and knights without number, all bringing their own troops. Holinshed refers to three ‘battles’ (battalions) of 16,000 men each, making a total of 48,000, though he is almost certainly exaggerating. Whatever the precise figure, it was by any account a very considerable force that crossed the Loire at various points and then pressed south with all speed in pursuit of the English, catching up with them on the morning of Sunday 18 September, some seven miles south-east of Poitiers, in the valley of the little river Miosson.23


The French were in confident mood. For one thing, they comfortably outnumbered the English, who were probably no more than ten or twelve thousand at most; they also had reason to believe that the invaders were seriously short of food. For the rest of that day the two sides reconnoitred each other’s positions and prepared for battle, while the Cardinal Talleyrand de Périgord, who had been sent by the Pope to attempt to negotiate a peace, shuttled fruitlessly backwards and forwards between the two sides. The Black Prince, who would certainly have avoided the battle if he could, offered to restore all his prisoners without ransom and to return all the castles that he had occupied; but John would accept nothing less than his own personal surrender, with a hundred of his knights – a demand that the Prince not unnaturally refused outright. Consequently, soon after sunrise on the following day, the battle began.


It seems extraordinary that since their defeat at Crécy the French had taken no steps to raise and train enough regiments of longbowmen to pay back the English in their own coin, particularly since John was fully conscious of the danger presented by the English archers. His plan seems to have been first to send a small force of some three hundred mounted knights to charge into their midst and scatter them, before following with the main body of his army – on foot, because the marshy ground and the numerous hedges and ditches were impossible for cavalry to negotiate. The tactic proved disastrous. The knights – who represented the flower of his army and who included the Constable of France and both marshals – succumbed to the usual deluge of arrows, and after this initial massacre the battle was as good as won. The French fought valiantly, but were overwhelmed; and when the fighting was over John himself was among the prisoners. The Prince treated him with elaborate courtesy. Froissart tells of how, the evening after the battle, he gave a supper in his honour, to which he also invited the other noble captives, including thirteen counts, an archbishop and sixty-six barons. ‘He himself served in all humility both at the King’s table and at the others … insisting that he was not worthy to sit himself at the table of so mighty a prince and so brave a soldier.’ Seven months later he escorted John personally to London.


The capture of John II, leaving France as it did in the hands of a nineteen-year-old Dauphin, might well have signalled the end of the war; King Edward, however, saw it differently. To him it seemed the perfect opportunity for the final decisive thrust that would win him the French crown. For the next four years he fought hard and often brilliantly; but contrary to his expectations he made no real headway, and early in 1360 he consented to peace negotiations. On 8 May, in the little village of Brétigny near Chartres, the Black Prince and the Dauphin agreed to the terms of a treaty, subject to confirmation by their respective fathers. The French would recognize Edward’s claim to Gascony and Poitou, together with various counties and towns in northern France, including Calais. They would also surrender the city of La Rochelle, of vital importance to England as the centre of the salt trade. John’s ransom was fixed at three million gold crowns: he was to be released on payment of the first instalment of one-fifth of the total. No less than forty noble hostages would be given as security for the remainder, which would be paid in six more annual instalments. The King of England, for his part, would agree to renounce his claim to the throne of France and to all other regions of the country.


When the two Kings met at Calais in October, however, Edward insisted that he would make his renunciations only after the transfer to him of all the lands ceded at Brétigny, with a proviso that this should be complete by 1 November 1361. It was a deeply disingenuous stipulation, and both sides knew it. Such transfers were long and complicated; they could not possibly be completed in a single year. The fact of the matter was that Edward was determined to leave his options open. He willingly agreed to easier terms for the payment of the ransom but, as things turned out, it would have been better had the money not been paid at all. In the summer of 1363 one of the hostages, John’s second son, the Duke of Anjou, broke his parole and fled. His father, horrified, declared his intention of returning immediately to London. His advisers did everything they could to dissuade him, but he remained firm. ‘If good faith and honour are to be banished from the rest of the world,’ he is quoted as saying, ‘they should still be found in the hearts and words of princes.’ He left Paris the week after Christmas, crossed the Channel in midwinter, and arrived in January 1364. Four months later he was dead, ‘of an unknown illness’. Edward ordered him a magnificent funeral service at St Paul’s before returning the body to France, where it was buried at Saint-Denis.




*





Let us return now to our play. The first scene of Act IV of Edward III introduces Lord Mountford, in conversation with the Earl of Salisbury. Mountford is, more properly, that Jean IV de Montfort who in 1341 claimed the dukedom of Brittany – which had been assigned to the nephew of Philip VI – and did homage for it to Edward III. Unfortunately he was captured in the same year and ended his life as a prisoner in the Louvre; but in the play he has been restored to the dukedom, and his presence therefore suggests that this short scene is set in Brittany. The incident which follows, on the other hand, in which Salisbury persuades one of his French prisoners to obtain for him a letter of safe conduct so that he may join the King at Calais, is inspired by a similar story in Froissart involving not Salisbury but another of Edward’s knights, Sir Walter Manny, who had been at the siege of Aiguillon, ridden across France and, as we have seen, had arrived at Calais in time for its submission. Thus, to include it in his play, the dramatist has changed both the location of the incident and its subject. He has also given the prisoner – unidentified in Froissart – the invented name of Villiers.


Scene ii brings us to the walls of besieged Calais, immediately after King Philip’s departure. It seems a little odd that Edward in his opening speech should order the siege to begin, since in fact it had already been in progress for almost a year – as is immediately indicated by the appearance of six poor men – representatives, presumably, of Froissart’s 1,700 – who, having explained the reasons for their distress, are given money by Edward. There follows a brief interruption by Lord Percy, who enters with two pieces of good news: the first that King David of Scotland has been captured; the second that Queen Philippa, though heavily pregnant, is on her way. Edward then announces – personally, rather than through Sir Walter Manny – his conditions for sparing the people of Calais, giving them two days in which to comply.


Since the story of the six burghers can clearly not be completed without the presence of Philippa, we might have expected some minor telescoping of time to allow for her immediate arrival in the following scene; scene iii, however, comes as a considerable surprise, involving as it does by far the greatest chronological liberty taken in the entire play. It divides naturally into two parts: the first, which must follow shortly after scene i with Salisbury and Mountford, continues the story of Salisbury’s letter of safe conduct, with Villiers requesting it from Charles of Normandy.24 Charles at first objects; their conversation develops into a moral discussion about conflicting oaths and the laws of chivalry and has little bearing on what follows: at last, however, the Duke sees the force of Villiers’s argument and Salisbury gets his letter.


Then, in line 57, although Charles remains on stage, we suddenly leap forward a whole decade to the field of Poitiers. King John (and by now he really is King John, his father Philip VI having died six years earlier) tells Charles (who is now transmuted into John’s eldest son, born in 1350 and Duke of Normandy since his father’s accession) that the Black Prince is surrounded and outnumbered. The first of these statements is unhistorical – the Prince’s troops were never in such difficulties – the second is true, though John’s estimate of the French strength as ‘threescore thousand at the least’ is obviously an exaggeration.25 Charles replies by telling his father of a threefold prophecy, the first part of which, ‘When feather’d fowl shall make thine army tremble’, is reported in both Froissart and Holinshed – in connection, however, not with Poitiers but with Crécy, ten years before.


There follows an extremely unhistorical account of the battle itself. It begins with a conversation between the Prince and his friend Lord Audley, who had fought beside him at Crécy, confirming King John’s view of the situation:








At Cressy field our clouds of warlike smoke


Chok’d up those French mouths and dissever’d them:


But now their multitudes of millions hide,


Masking as ’twere, the beauteous-burning sun;


Leaving no hope to us but sullen dark


And eyeless terror of all-ending night.











Audley describes the disposition of the enemy, much as the Mariner did before the battle of Sluys,26 and the Prince replies with words of encouragement vaguely reminiscent – though they are a good deal less polished – of the St Crispin’s Day speech in Henry V. Next three French heralds arrive to taunt the Prince – an incident that recalls the scene of the tennis balls in the same play. He dismisses them with contempt, after which he and Audley prepare themselves for imminent death.


Then, suddenly, the sky darkens and a strange silence falls, shortly to be broken by a flight of ravens croaking over the French army. The prophecy is fulfilled and panic ensues, as more and more Frenchmen take to their heels. At this point Lord Salisbury is brought before the French King, having tried unsuccessfully to make his way through the enemy ranks.27 John orders his execution, but Salisbury shows his letter of safe conduct, signed by Charles of Normandy, who is fortunately present. An argument ensues between Charles and his father on the same lines as that between Villiers and Charles in IV.iii; the King finally capitulates and allows his prisoner to proceed on his way to Calais, but not before he has delivered a parting shot:








Some two leagues hence there is a lofty hill …


And thence behold the wretched Prince of Wales,


Hoop’d with a band of iron round about.


After which sight to Calice [Calais] spur amain,


And say, the prince was smother’d and not slain:


And tell the king, this is not all his ill,


For I will greet him ere he thinks I will.











Meanwhile, thanks to the ravens, the tide of battle has turned and the entire French army is in flight. King John himself is taken prisoner and brought before the Black Prince; but the Prince appears far more concerned with his friend Audley, who has been seriously – though, as we later learn, not fatally – wounded.


With Act V, scene i – the last scene in the play – we are back in Calais for the conclusion of the story of the burghers. ‘The two days’ respite is not yet expir’d’, and they duly present themselves before King Edward ‘in their shirts, bare foot, with halters about their necks’. He at first condemns them, but Queen Philippa intercedes and he yields to her entreaty. Next comes a brief interlude with a certain John Copland, who has been fortunate enough to capture King David of Scotland at Neville’s Cross a short time before. Despite Philippa’s commission from her husband to govern in his name during his absence, Copland has refused to deliver his prisoner to anyone but the King himself and has accordingly brought him to Calais. The Queen is understandably irritated, but Edward is pleased by Copland’s flattering explanation of his motives and rewards him with a knighthood.


The scene continues with the arrival of Lord Salisbury, who brings tragic news:








Here stood a battle often thousand horse:


There twice as many pikes, in quadrant-wise …


And in the midst, like to a slender point


Within the compass of the horizon …


Or as a bear fast chain’d unto a stake, –


Stood famous Edward [the Black Prince], still expecting when


Those dogs of France would fasten on his flesh …


The battles join: and, when we could no more


Discern the difference ’twixt the friend and foe …


Away we turn’d our wat’ry eyes, with sighs


As black as powder fuming into smoke.











Consternation follows; but a moment later; while the distraught Queen is mourning her son and the furious King is swearing vengeance, a herald enters to announce the arrival of the Prince in splendid health, accompanied by Audley – now apparently recovered – and his prisoners, King John of France and his son Philip. Edward is quick to taunt the captive King:








So, John of France, I see you keep your word.


You promis’d to be sooner with ourself


Than we did think for, and ’tis so indeed:











The Prince then delivers a fine patriotic speech, leaving, however, the play’s last words to his father:








A day or two within this haven-town,


God willing, then for England we’ll be shipp’d,


Where, in a happy hour, I trust, we shall


Arrive, three kings, two princes, and a queen.











Once again, Shakespeare – if Shakespeare it is – has taken his usual liberties with historic truth. Edward and Philippa were not in France after Poitiers, though they were as we know present at Calais. King David of Scotland was never taken to Calais, but remained in London and Odiham in Hampshire between his capture in 1346 and his eventual ransom in 1357. But in the context of the play such details are insignificant enough. Perhaps because of its suspected multiple authorship, Edward III probably contains more inaccuracies than the other plays in the canon. The fact remains – and cannot be too often repeated or too strongly emphasized–that to a dramatist, accuracy is at most of secondary importance. The main events of Edward’s life are all there; and the average playgoer, whether of the sixteenth or the twenty-first century, having no previous knowledge of the period, will have come away with a mental picture which, for all its bold lines and high colour, will not be so very far wrong.




*





The story of the last sad years of Edward’s reign can be briefly told. In 1362 he made over Gascony and Poitou to his eldest son, to be held of himself as sovereign. At Bordeaux the Black Prince established a luxurious and sophisticated court where, wrote the Chandos Herald,28 ‘since God was born, never was open house kept so handsomely and honourably.’ He fed ‘more than fourscore knights and full four times as many squires’ at his table, and maintained a vast retinue of his own: pages, valets, cooks, stewards, butlers, grooms, huntsmen and falconers, insisting that he himself be served only by a knight wearing golden spurs. His lovely wife Joan was arrayed as no Queen of England had ever been, in furs, velvets and brocades, all ablaze with jewels. At his court ‘there abode all nobleness, all joy and jollity, largesse, gentleness and honour, and all his subjects and all his men loved him right dearly.’


The Herald may well have been right as far as the Prince’s English followers were concerned; but the Gascons and Poitevins did not share their enthusiasm. For one thing, they were perfectly well aware that all this luxury was maintained at their expense, being made possible only by a savage taxation that increased year by year. For another, they themselves were treated as second-class citizens, and given few if any important or lucrative posts in the administration. The grumbling grew louder still when, early in 1367, the Prince involved himself in the continuing struggle between Pedro the Cruel, King of Castile29 – whose subjects had risen in revolt – and his bastard half-brother Don Enrique of Trastamara. Pedro was strongly supported by Edward of England, two of whose sons were to marry Spanish Infantas before many more years had passed; on the other hand he had incurred the hatred of King John’s son and successor Charles V, whose sister-in-law he had married, then abandoned and quite possibly murdered. Seeing his throne now seriously threatened, he had appealed to the Black Prince who, never able to resist the lure of battle, led his army across the Pyrenees, where he was joined by another force under his brother, John of Gaunt. On 3 April 1367, at Najera, the Prince won the third great victory of his career: a victory that ranked with those of Crécy and Poitiers, put Don Enrique to flight and re-established Pedro firmly on the throne of Castile.


But Najera, glorious as it was, failed to impress the Gascons. It was anyway no business of theirs, and when Pedro predictably defaulted on his promise to defray all the expenses of the expedition and the Prince in his turn announced new annual hearth taxes on the people of Guyenne, they decided that they had had enough and lodged a formal appeal to the King of France. Charles V was an intelligent, capable young man who had no delusions about the dangers ahead. Before taking any action he consulted a number of distinguished jurists from as far afield as Bologna; then, after carefully considering their opinions, he wrote to Edward in December 1368, informing him that he was legally entitled to uphold the appeal and was in fact doing so. Edward, furious at what he considered an unwarrantable incursion on his own prerogatives, laid claim once again to the title of King of France; Charles replied by declaring all his French lands confiscate. It was an almost exact repetition of what had occurred with the French King’s grandfather, Philip VI, thirty-two years before. In those days, however, Edward had been just twenty-five, in full possession of his youth and vigour; now, at fifty-seven, he was failing fast and no match for his shrewd young adversary.


Thanks to the outstanding military ability of his eldest son, this should not have constituted a serious problem; but the Black Prince’s health was also causing concern. Soon after Najera he suffered an attack of dysentery, which soon gave way to dropsy. By the end of 1367 all his once-formidable energy seemed to be draining away. He grew fat and bloated, and two years later was ‘weighed down by so great infirmity of body that he could scarcely sit upon his horse’. At the siege of Limoges in 1370 he had commanded from a litter, the brutality of his subsequent order for the massacre of some 3,000 of its citizens, regardless of age or sex, being at least partly attributable to the acute pain from which he was by now never free. He returned to England in January 1371 and retired at the age of only forty to his manor at Berkhamsted, where – apart from a brief expedition with his father in 1372 – he survived for the next five years, dying on Trinity Sunday, 8 June 1376. By now Gascony was as good as lost. John of Gaunt and others did what they could, but the French remained ensconced in their walled towns and castles, refusing to fight and frustrating all efforts to dislodge them. Brittany, left undefended, was quickly recaptured; and by the time a two-year truce was concluded at Bruges in 1375 the English possessions in France had been reduced to the city of Calais and a narrow strip of coast between Bordeaux and Bayonne – a poor enough inheritance for the Prince’s son Richard when, just two years later, the crown was laid upon his head.


King Edward survived his eldest son for little over a year. On the Sunday before the Feast of John the Baptist, 21 June 1377, he died in his palace at Richmond. He had reigned for just over half a century – rather too long in fact, since although he was still only sixty-four, the last fifteen years of his life had been increasingly clouded by a premature senility. It had attacked both his mind and his body, rendering him powerless to control either the ambitious, self-seeking courtiers by whom he was surrounded or the intrigues of his mistress, Alice Perrers. After the death of Queen Philippa in 1369, his decline had accelerated rapidly. Philippa had tolerated his affair with Alice, even going so far as to install her as a Maid of the Bedchamber; she had also advised him, encouraged him, constantly reminded him of his duties as a King and prevented him from drinking too much. Bereft of her, he had slipped gradually into his long dotage.


For most of his reign he had been a good king, though not a great one. With his father Edward II, the prestige of the English Crown had sunk to its nadir; Edward III, succeeding at the age of fourteen, had restored its reputation and given back to his people their self-respect. Tall and vigorous, with thick, long, golden hair and beard, he looked every inch a King and acted like one, indefatigable on the battlefield, the hunting field and, it was said, the bedchamber. Though never outstandingly intelligent, he possessed plenty of good sound common sense and a degree of self-confidence that frequently made him seem cleverer than he was. At Crécy, Poitiers and countless lesser engagements, his armies earned for themselves – and for him – a reputation for valour and military skill unequalled by any English monarch before or since. Thus, even though his private life was known to be far from blameless, he had earned the respect, admiration and even the love of his subjects, and had maintained them till the end. At his death he was genuinely mourned, and not only by the English: his old enemy Charles V of France ordered a requiem mass at the Sainte-Chapelle in Paris, ‘with as much pomp and ceremony’, writes Jean Froissart, ‘as if King Edward had been his own cousin’. It was to be a very long time before England was to look upon his like again.





[image: ]








1. John Trevisa, who was born at Berkeley in 1326, writes in his translation (with interpolations) of Higden’s Polychronicon that Edward was killed ‘with a hoote broche putte thro the secret place posterialle’ – this particularly ghastly method having been chosen principally in order that there should be no marks on the body when it was prepared for state burial in Gloucester Cathedral, but also, perhaps, as being appropriate for a suspected sodomite.


2. As pointed out in the Introduction, it has never been suggested that every word of the play is by Shakespeare. His name is used loosely throughout this chapter, simply because we cannot get involved here with questions of the authenticity of individual passages.


3. In fact Robert was not Count of Artois at all, that county on the death of his grandfather having been assigned to a cousin. In 1334 he had sought refuge in England, where Edward, realizing the value of a renegade French nobleman to his cause, had granted him the earldom of Richmond.


4. The editor of the New Cambridge edition charitably maintains that ‘the existence of Philip VI is deliberately ignored in order to present a single royal French counterpart to Edward in the campaign that lasted from 1337 to 1356.’


5. There seems also to have been some confusion in the identity of Montague, but it need not concern us here.


6. Jean Froissart, the greatest prose writer of his day, was born at Valenciennes in the county of Hainault around 1337 and was brought to England by Queen Philippa in 1361 as one of her household clerks, remaining there until her death eight years later, though making frequent trips to the continent. He was at the Black Prince’s court at Bordeaux when Richard was born there in 1367. His chronicle – which includes long extracts from that of an earlier compatriot, Jean Le Bel – covers the period from 1322 to the end of the century.


7. Edward, the Black Prince, was seven years old in 1337.


8. It is discussed at length in the New Cambridge edition, p. 186.


9. Although the title is nowadays given to the longest day of the year, 21 June, the Feast of St John the Baptist on the 24th was then generally accepted as Midsummer Day.


10. See pp. 18–19 and note.


11. King Robert the Wise, of Naples and Sicily, is briefly mentioned by Froissart as having warned the French King not to fight the English; but he was not present at Sluys, and died three years before Crécy.


12. cf. Sonnet cvii: ‘The mortal moon hath her eclipse endured.’


13. Michael Packe, however (King Edward III, p. 149), suggests that the King had his eye on Normandy from the beginning, and that the journey as far as Cornwall was a deliberate feint to put the French off the track.


14. It is some ten miles to the north of Utah Beach, where the American 4th Division landed on 6 June 1944.


15. Possibly because the King had injured himself on landing. Froissart reports that ‘he stumbled, and fell so heavily that the blood gushed from his nose. The knights who surrounded him took this for a bad omen and begged him to go back on board for that day. “Why?” retorted the King without hesitation. “It is a very good sign: it shows that the land is thirsty to receive me.”’ The story would be more credible if it were not also told of William the Conqueror – and, I seem to remember, Julius Caesar.


16. There is no reason to think that his sobriquet, ‘the Black Prince’, probably occasioned by his black armour, was ever attached to him during his lifetime. Its earliest recorded appearance dates only from the sixteenth century.


17. The chronicler of the Abbey of Saint-Denis suggests another reason for the French defeat: ‘The common soldiers wore tight shirts, so short that they exposed their private parts every time they bent over. The noblemen, on the other hand, wore hauberks extravagantly decorated and surmounted by vainglorious feathery crests. The Lord God, offended by so much obscenity and vanity, decided to use the King of England as His flail, to beat the French host into the ground.’


18. See pp. 18–19 and note, and 23–4.


19. Lord Audley – in fact Sir James Audley – is repeatedly presented in the play as an old man: in line 124, Prince Charles of France goes so far as to address him as ‘agèd impotent’. At the time of Crécy he was in fact in his early thirties.


20. It is plain that this scene (III.iv) is meant to end without the last six lines – which make no sense in the present context – and belong somewhere else. A possible explanation is suggested in the New Cambridge edition (p. 133) but need not concern us here.


21. Another casualty of the battle was the famous Black Rood of Scotland, a piece of the True Cross set in an ebony crucifix which St Margaret, wife of King Malcolm Canmore, had left to the Scottish nation on her death in 1093. The English captured it and deposited it in the shrine of St Cuthbert in Durham Cathedral. There it remained till the Reformation, when it was lost and almost certainly destroyed.


22. There is no reason to doubt the story of the burghers of Calais; nor is there any excuse for Londoners to forget it, since a bronze cast of Rodin’s famous group was acquired for the nation in 1915 by the National Art Collections Fund and now stands in Westminster Palace Gardens.


23. The site of the battle of Poitiers is occupied today by the farm known as La Cardinerie, formerly Maupertuis, a mile or so to the north of the former Benedictine Abbey of Nouaillé.


24. At this point the Duke of Normandy was in fact the future John II. See pp. 18–19 and 23–4.


25. See p. 37.


26. See p. 24.


27. Salisbury’s letter was issued nine or ten years before, and Calais had already been nearly a decade in English hands. Several obvious questions arise: did he take all that time to ride through France? Is Poitiers really on the way between Brittany and Calais? But to ask such questions is to miss the point. For the purposes of the play, the siege of Calais and the battle of Poitiers were virtually contemporaneous.


28. The Herald of Sir John Chandos – whose own name is unknown – wrote a fulsomely admiring biography of the Black Prince in French verse: see Bibliography.


29. Castile and Aragon were separate kingdoms until shortly after the marriage of Ferdinand of Aragon and Isabella of Castile in 1469.
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